RECEIVED

10-10-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2017AP1436-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

ROBERT L. BENTZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2016-CM-596

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & ASSOCIATES, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 dennis@melowskilaw.com

A. Statement of the Law
	B. Application of the Law to the Facts of the Case 18-20
IV.	THE REMEDY FOR A VIOLATION OF A
	DEFENDANT'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO
	BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND
	SEIZURES IS SUPPRESSION OF THE ILL-GOTTEN
	EVIDENCE AND ANY ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE
	FOLLOWING THEREFROM
COM	CL LIGION 21
CON	CLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution United States Constitution, Amend. IV.....passim United States Constitution Amend. XIV passim **Wisconsin Constitution** Wisconsin Constitution Article I, § 11.....passim **Wisconsin Statutes United States Supreme Court Cases** *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621 (1991) 6 *INS v. Delgado*, 466 U.S. 210 (1984) 6

Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567 (1988) 6

<i>Ornelas v. United States</i> , 517 U.S. 690 (1996)
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1 (1968)
United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194 (2002) 6
<i>United States v. Mendenhall</i> , 446 U.S. 544 (1980) 6, 7, 8
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963) 20
Federal Courts of Appeal Cases
United States v. Pavelski, 789 F.2d 485 (7th Cir. 1986) 11
Wisconsin Supreme Court Cases
Browne v. State, 24 Wis. 2d 491, 129 N.W.2d 175 (1964) 20
Conrad v. State, 63 Wis. 2d 616, 218 N.W.2d 252 (1974) 20
Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 407, 193 N.W.2d 89 (1923) 20
State v. Anderson, 165 Wis. 2d 441, 477 N.W.2d 277 (1991) 20
State ex rel. White Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 137 N.W.2d 391 (1965)
State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987) 11
State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997) 5
State v. Paszek, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971) 17
State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990) 12
State v. Schneidewind, 47 Wis. 2d 110, 176 N.W.2d 303 (1970)20

State v. Welsh, 108 Wis. 2d 319, 321 N.W.2d 245 (1982) 11, 17
State v. Woods, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984) 5
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 277 Wis. 2d 715, 690 N.W.2d 866 7
Wisconsin Court of Appeals Cases
State v. Adams, 152 Wis. 2d 68, 447 N.W.2d 90 (Ct. App. 1989)7
State v. Diggins, 2013 WI App. 105, 349 Wis. 2d 787, 837 N.W.2d. 177
State v. Hoffman, 163 Wis. 2d 752, 472 N.W.2d 558 (Ct. App. 1991)
State v. Powers, 2004 WI App. 143, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869
State v. Stout, 2002 WI App. 41, 250 Wis. 2d 768, 641 N.W.2d 474
State v. Young, 212 Wis.2d 417, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).12

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER MR. BENTZ WAS DETAINED FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT PURPOSES WHEN HE WAS FIRST APPROACHED AND QUESTIONED BY CITY OF WEST BEND POLICE OFFICER OTTE?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. Mr. Bentz was not detained for Fourth Amendment purposes until such time as Officer Otte confronted Mr. Benz with the alleged inconsistencies in his story. R23 at 10.

II. WHETHER OFFICER OTTE HAD A CONSTITUTIONALLY VALID REASONABLE SUSPICION TO DETAIN MR. BENTZ?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: YES. Given the alleged inconsistencies in Mr. Bentz' answers to Officer Otte's questions, Officer Otte could permissibly detain Mr. Bentz to investigate why Mr. Bentz' answers were not consistent. R23 at 10.

III. WHETHER THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST MR. BENTZ FOR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF AN INTOXICANT?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: YES. Under the totality of the circumstances test, Officer Otte's observations of Mr. Bentz' demeanor and appearance, his ostensibly contradictory answers to questions, and his refusal to perform field sobriety tests, Officer Otte had sufficient facts upon which to base a belief that it was more likely than not that Mr. Bentz was operating while intoxicated. R23 at 11.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents questions of law based upon a set

of uncontroverted facts. The issues presented herein are of a nature that can be addressed by the application of long-standing legal principles the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the law at issue herein is fully developed, and therefore, publication would do little, if anything, to enhance the relevant body of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 27, 2016, a two-count Amended Criminal Complaint was filed in the above-referenced matter alleging that the Defendant-Appellant, Robert L. Bentz, Operated a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant as a Third Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. 346.63(1)(a), and Operated a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration as a Third Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). R11. Mr. Bentz entered a plea of Not Guilty to both counts. R4.

Mr. Bentz retained private counsel, Melowski & Associates, LLC, to represent him. R6; R8. Thereafter, Attorney Dennis Melowski filed a Demand for Discovery and Inspection. R13. Upon receipt and review of the State's discovery materials, Attorney Melowski filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Suppress Based Upon Lack of Reasonable Suspicion to Detain and Probable Cause to Arrest. R15.

An evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Bentz' motion on December 2, 2016, at which the arresting officer in the instant matter, Officer John Otte of the City of West Bend Police Department, testified. R40. At the close of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, Attorney Melowski requested that the issues presented at the hearing be further briefed. R40 at 61:1-2. The court consented to Attorney Melowski's request. R40 at 61:3.

After submitting supplemental briefs, the parties received a written decision from the court denying Mr. Bentz' motion on all grounds proffered by the defense. R23; D-App. 103-114. Thereafter, Mr. Bentz changed his plea to No Contest to the charge of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated—Third Offense, and was adjudicated guilty of the same. R32; D-App. 101-02.

Upon entry of the Judgment of Conviction on June 14, 2017, Mr. Bentz filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief on June 15, 2017. R29.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 5, 2016, at approximately 2:14 a.m., Officer John Otte of the City of West Bend Police Department, followed a vehicle on North Main Street in the City of West Bend which "appeared to engage in driving behavior in an effort to avoid said officer." R11 at 1-2. The vehicle the officer observed pulled into the driveway of a private residence on Harrison Street and parked there. *Id.* at 2. Officer Otte watched the vehicle for approximately five minutes, whereupon it pulled out of the driveway and drove to another private residence on Jefferson Street and parked in the driveway of that residence. *Id.* Officer Otte drove to a parking lot in the vicinity and waited approximately ten minutes before returning to the residence on Jefferson Street where the vehicle had parked in the second instance. *Id.*; R40 at 14:24 to 15:3.

During the entire time he observed the aforementioned vehicle, Officer Otte was never able to identify any characteristics of the driver. R40 at 34:25 to 35:3. He could not discern whether it was a male or female operating the car. R40 at 35:4-6. Likewise, he could not identify the race of the driver. R40 at 35:7-8. Officer Otte's inability to ascertain any characteristics relating to the vehicle's operator remained true for all instances in which he followed the vehicle, from the initial observation to the first driveway in which it parked; for the duration of the time he watched the vehicle parked there; for the second time it was driven to the next driveway and parked; and for the time he watched it

parked in the second driveway before leaving the area and returning ten minutes later. R40 at 36:11-14.

Upon his return to the area in which the vehicle had parked, Officer Otte observed a male subject sitting on the driveway outside of the vehicle. *Id.*; R40 at 14:4-7. At this time, Officer Otte elected to park his squad car in the street and approach Mr. Bentz to investigate why he was there. R40 at 16:6-8; 39:23 to 40:1. According to Officer Otte, Mr. Bentz replied that he was "just chilling," and further indicated that because he did not want to drive for the remainder of that night he was trying to call his son to pick him up. R40 at 16:9-13.

Officer Otte continued his interrogation of Mr. Bentz by asking him whether he resided at the residence at which he parked his vehicle, and he replied that he did not. R40 at 16:14-18. Officer Otte further inquired of Mr. Bentz whether he knew the individual who resided at the address at which he stopped, to which Mr. Bentz responded that he did not. R40 at 16:16-18. Officer Otte continued by asking Mr. Bentz where he was coming from, to which Mr. Bentz responded that he "wasn't coming from anywhere." R40 at 16:19-21.

During the course of this initial conversation, Officer Otte made additional observations of Mr. Bentz which ostensibly included noticing that Mr. Bentz had an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person; had slurred speech; and had glossy, bloodshot eyes. R40 at 16:22 to 17:1. Based upon these observations, Officer Otte concluded that Mr. Bentz had been consuming intoxicants. R40 at 17:2-7. It is important to note that at the motion hearing held in the instant matter, Officer Otte admitted that another officer, identified as Officer Doleschy, was already on the scene when Officer Otte initially questioned Mr. Bentz. R40 at 28:8-25; 29:11-14.

Officer Otte spent the next part of his interrogation of Mr. Bentz attempting to construct a timeline of where Mr. Bentz had been earlier that evening. R40 at 17:8-14. During the course of the initial interrogation, Mr. Bentz never admitted to driving the

vehicle. R40 at 40:25 to 41:4. To the contrary, Mr. Bentz informed Officer Otte that a female had driven and parked the car there. R40 at 19:16-18. In fact, Mr. Bentz offered his phone to Officer Otte so that he could call the female to confirm that she had been the operator. R40 at 41:8-11; 45:6-8. Despite this offer, Otte refused to make the call or to have Mr. Bentz make the call. R40 at 45:9-22.

Based upon his observations of Mr. Bentz, Officer Otte decided to ask Mr. Bentz to submit to a battery of field sobriety tests which prompted Mr. Bentz to request to speak with an attorney. R40 at 41:21-24. Officer Otte allowed Mr. Bentz to make a telephone call to his attorneys, and after he completed his call, Mr. Bentz declined to submit to field sobriety testing. R40 at 42:9-20. Based upon his refusal, Officer Otte arrested Mr. Bentz for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. R40 at 42:21-22.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

This appeal presents questions of law related to the application of the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution to an undisputed set of facts. As such, this Court applies constitutional principles to the facts of the case, and in so doing, reviews the facts below independent of the circuit court. *See State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 204, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997); *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984).

ARGUMENT

- I. BASED **UPON** THE OFFICERS' **DISPLAY OF AUTHORITY AND** THE RESTRICTION OF DEFENDANT'S FREEDOM TO LEAVE, A LEGALLY COGNIZABLE DETENTION OCCURRED IN **THIS** CASE ATTHE TIME **OFFICER** OTTE **FIRST** APPROACHED AND QUESTIONED MR. BENTZ.
 - A. Statement of the Law.

In order to be afforded the protections inherent in the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, an individual must be "seized." U.S. Const. amend IV. The question of when, precisely, a seizure occurs within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is a fluid, but well-settled, one. The seminal proclamation on seizure can be found within *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544 (1980), in which Justice Stewart wrote that "a person has been 'seized' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Id.* at 554; *see also Michigan v. Chesternut*, 486 U.S. 567, 573 (1988); *INS v. Delgado*, 466 U.S. 210, 215 (1984); *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 497, 502-04, (1983).

After articulating the test for determining when a seizure takes place, Justice Stewart went on to list some examples of circumstances that might suggest a seizure: "the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554.

The foregoing standard gives rise to a question as to whether the facts and circumstances surrounding the moment of seizure should be viewed from the subjective viewpoint of the defendant, and whether he was acting as a "reasonable person" when he believed he was not free to leave, or alternatively, whether the test for determining when a seizure occurs is a purely objective one without regard to the defendant's subjective belief. This question was addressed by the Supreme Court in *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621 (1991), when it held that *Mendenhall* "... establishes that the test for existence of a 'show of authority' is an objective one; ... [based upon] whether the officer's words and actions would have conveyed that [movement was restricted] to a reasonable person."

The objective test regarding detention was further refined by the Supreme Court in other cases, such as *United States v. Drayton*, 536 U.S. 194 (2002), in which the Court held that the notion of whether a suspect's movement was restricted must be based upon whether the person would objectively feel free to disregard the police and go about their business. *Id.* at 201. This test must presuppose an innocent person. *Id.* at 202; *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 434-36 (1991).

without Wisconsin has adopted modification the Mendenhall test. See, e.g., State v. Stout, 2002 WI App. 41, 250 Wis. 2d 768, 641 N.W.2d 474. Settling the question of when a seizure occurs is paramount "because the moment of a seizure limits what facts a court may consider in determining the existence of reasonable suspicion for that seizure." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 39, 277 Wis. 2d 715, 690 N.W.2d 866. The Wisconsin Supreme Court observed in Young that when a person "... acquiesce[s to] a police show of authority, . . . the Fourth Amendment applies and the exclusionary rule will exclude any evidence obtained in the absence of reasonable suspicion." Id. at ¶48, (citations omitted).

While acquiescence to a "show of authority" is part of the trigger for determining the point at which a cognizable Fourth Amendment seizure has occurred, it is not the only relevant consideration. In addition to the restriction of movement, a law enforcement officer's intentions play a role. If the law enforcement officer intends "to restrain the person" the court may take that into consideration as part of the calculus for determining the point at which detention occurs. *State v. Hoffman*, 163 Wis. 2d 752, 761, 472 N.W.2d 558 (Ct. App. 1991), citing *State v. Adams*, 152 Wis. 2d 68, 75 n.2, 447 N.W.2d 90 (Ct. App. 1989).

B. Application of the Law to the Facts of the Case.

This case presents a telling, and objectively ascertainable, set of circumstances with regard to whether Mr. Bentz would have felt free to leave and whether he submitted to the officers' authority as required by the Fourth Amendment and the foregoing case law. It is perhaps easiest to first address the second part of the test to determine whether there has been a seizure in this case because there is no allegation that Mr. Bentz did not submit to authority. He is not alleged to have fled, attempted to walk away from the

officers, or otherwise asked to leave. Thus, there is no question that there is a submission to authority. The question which remains, however, is when a reasonable person in Mr. Bentz' situation would have objectively believed under the totality of the circumstances that he was not free to leave, and at what moment that would have occurred.

It is Mr. Bentz' contention that a reasonable person would not have felt he was free to leave the moment the second officer arrived on the scene and began his investigation. Before further expounding upon the reasoning underlying Mr. Bentz' position, it is worth noting the following factual circumstances attendant to this case which were considered by the courts above as lending toward a belief that there has been a "detention" on the part of law enforcement.

First, under *Hoffman*, it is a relevant consideration that Officer Otte intended to "investigate why [Mr. Bentz] was [at the second residence]." R40 at 39:23 to 40:1. Officer Otte at no point testified that he was attempting to determine whether Mr. Bentz was injured or otherwise in need of assistance, such as he might have if he was operating under a community caretaker theory. Officer Otte considered Mr. Bentz behavior that evening as evasive, hence he wanted to "investigate," and that would effectively characterize his approaching Mr. Bentz as an investigatory detention.

Second, consistent with one of the criteria considered relevant under *Mendenhall*, not one, but two, officers arrived nearly simultaneously on the scene to investigate.

Third, all the officers involved in this case were uniformed, including the presence of a sidearm as well. R40 at 15:10-15.

Fourth, both officers arrived at the scene in marked squad cars. R40 at 15:10-13; 23:6-8.

_

¹ R11 at 2.

Fifth, in order to videotape the encounter, the second officer parked in the driveway in which Mr. Bentz was parked, thereby blocking his egress. R40 at 24:14-18 (Mr. Bentz's vehicle would not have been able to pull out of the driveway).

Sixth, the questioning of Mr. Bentz bore the indicia not of a simple encounter, in which Fourth Amendment protections do not attach, but rather, questioning was, to say the least, intended to In a telling admission, Officer Otte incriminate Mr. Bentz. acknowledged that he was familiar with an event taking place in Regner Park that night, otherwise known as Riverfest. R40 at 21:8-10; 21:22-25. On direct examination, Officer Otte averred that he knew beer and wine were served at Riverfest. R40 at 22:8-10. In an ostensible effort to place Mr. Bentz at Riverfest, and therefore at a location at which alcohol was being served, he inquired of Mr. Bentz where he had come from that evening. R40 at 16:19-20. Likewise, had this been a simple encounter, incriminating questions such as asking Mr. Bentz whether he "had consumed alcohol or where he had consumed alcohol" would not have been asked. R40 at 21:5-8.

Seventh, and most importantly, the second officer's arrival and immediate investigation of the circumstances surrounding both why and how Mr. Bentz arrived at his location on the night in question is most telling. Officer Otte admitted at the evidentiary hearing in this case that the assisting officer, Doleschy, "was already on the scene when [Otte] initially questioned Mr. Bentz . . . " R40 at 28:20-24; 29:11-14.²

A person viewing the circumstances objectively would recognize that the two officers at the scene did not arrive in the same car. The presence of the second officer cannot be explained objectively under the guise of his merely being a "ride along." The only conclusion which can be drawn from his presence is that he had been called as "back up" by the first officer, or alternatively, that when the first officer arrived and described the situation to his

Bentz, " R40 at 29:11-14.

9

² Notably, this is inapposite to the lower court's belief that Doleschy arrived later. R23 at 3; D-App 105. To the contrary, Officer Otte made it clear on the record that "Doleschy's already there when [I] first speak to Mr.

dispatcher, dispatch felt the circumstances warranted a back-up officer. Under either circumstance, no reasonably objective person would conclude that the first officer felt he was merely going to engage in a simple encounter with his person. reasonable persons understand that multiple officers are called to a scene only when the first officer feels his safety may be in question because he suspects the individual with whom he is making contact is a potential threat, or when the first officer believes that the suspect may be a threat to flee the scene. If a person objectively recognizes that he is perceived as a threat to himself or others, or is a threat to flee, he knows with certainty that no law enforcement officer would allow him to leave the scene without first determining that he is not a threat to himself or to the public, or to Such a determination requires an investigatory detention, removing any possibility that the engagement was a "simple encounter" which did not require constitutional protection.

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