RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II

11-03-2017

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

**Appeal No. 2017AP1436 - CR
Circuit Court Case No. 2016CM596**

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT L. BENTZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY,
THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent

BY: Sandra Jo Giernoth
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar No. 1063757

Washington County
432 East Washington Street
West Bend, Wisconsin 53095
(262) 335-4311

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD CONCLUDE THAT MR. BENTZ WAS NOT SEIZED FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT PURPOSES WHEN OFFICER OTTE FIRST APPROACHED MR. BENTZ, BUT RATHER, WAS SEIZED WHEN OFFICER OTTE ASKED MR. BENTZ TO PERFORM STANDARDIZED FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS.

Wisconsin courts have adopted the standard articulated in United States v. Mendenhall as the standard for assessing whether police contact with a citizen amounts to a seizure under the Fourth Amendment. State v. Stout, 2002 WI App 41, ¶ 20, 250 Wis. 2d 768, 784, 641 N.W.2d 474, 480.

“We conclude that a person has been “seized” within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave. Examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled. In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person.”

United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554–55 (1980).

Officer Otte’s initial contact with Mr. Bentz was not a product of a traffic stop or other circumstance where the subject WAS in motion and stopped. Rather, Officer Otte approached Mr. Bentz on foot while Mr. Bentz was sitting on the ground outside of a vehicle, leaning against the driver’s side tire. [R. 40:14.] There was no infringement upon Mr. Bentz’s freedom to move about because Mr. Bentz was stationary.

Similarly, Officer Otte's approach toward Mr. Bentz did not involve any show of authority or force. Officer Otte parked his squad car on the street and did not activate his emergency lights or siren. He walked on foot to approach Mr. Bentz, and he did not display or handle his firearm in any way.

At some point after Officer Otte initially approached Mr. Bentz, but before Officer Otte asked Mr. Bentz to perform standardized field sobriety tests, Officer Doleschy arrived on scene. [R. 40:23, 28-30.] When Officer Doleschy arrived on scene, his presence was more innocuous than that of Officer Otte. Like Officer Otte, Officer Doleschy's arrival lacked any show of authority or force. He too parked his squad on the road without activating emergency lights or sirens. He too approached on foot without displaying or handling his firearm. Officer Doleschy had no physical contact with Mr. Bentz and did not question Mr. Bentz.

There is no evidence that the tone or tenor of Officer Otte's questions posed to Mr. Bentz were aggressive, hostile, or threatening. The substance of the questions was limited to Mr. Bentz's whereabouts, activities, and establishing a timeline for those events.

Absent any evidence that this encounter involved display of a weapon, threatening presence of several officers, physical touching of Mr. Bentz, a tone or tenor that compelled compliance, Officer Otte's initial contact with Mr. Bentz is of the nature that Wisconsin courts find to be inoffensive and the kind that does not constitute a seizure under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, Officer Otte's initial contact with Mr. Bentz was not a seizure as defined by the Fourth Amendment.

Mr. Bentz argues Officer Otte's initial contact with Mr. Bentz was a seizure because: (1) Officer Otte testified his subjective intent was to investigate what Officer Otte opined was a vehicle engaging in an effort to avoid police presence; (2) no reasonable person would ever feel free to leave the presence of two officers who make contact with him or her; (3) all officers were uniformed, which included standard police firearms; (4) officers arrived in two separate marked squad cars; (5) officers asked questions to "investigate" the circumstances surrounding the driving Officer Otte observed and Mr. Bentz's behavior.

There is nothing in Mendenhall, or subsequent cases that construe this type of police contact as a seizure under the Fourth Amendment. Construing the facts and circumstances present in this case as a seizure would transform nearly all police-citizen encounters into a seizure because the characteristics of this encounter are germane to all police-citizen encounters. Officers are generally required to wear a uniform that identifies them as such, which includes a firearm, and they generally operate some type of official police vehicle. It is common for an officer to request a second officer during an encounter as a general practice, and just as common for that officer to arrive in a separate squad.

Further, Mr. Bentz extrapolates that Officer Otte's reference to "investigating" transforms the contact into a seizure absent any of the required characteristics articulated in Mendenhall. That reasoning is flawed. "Investigating" is an activity officers engage in relative to all their police activities, irrespective of whether the situation is criminal in nature or not. It is

simply the exercise of asking questions and looking into circumstances. Mr. Bentz argues that anytime an officer “investigates” it is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment, but nothing in Mendenhall or its progeny supports that assertion.

Rather, this Court should conclude that Mr. Bentz was seized at the point when Officer Otte requested Mr. Bentz perform standardized field sobriety tests. Wisconsin courts recognize that an officer’s request to a citizen to perform standardized field sobriety tests is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment. See State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. Officer Otte’s request constitutes a change in characteristics and scope of the initial encounter such that this juncture transforms the consensual encounter into a seizure. Officer Otte’s request clearly informed Mr. Bentz that he would be detained on scene to perform physical skills intended to determine whether he was impaired. Contemporaneous with Officer Otte’s request to Mr. Bentz to perform standardized field sobriety tests, Officer Doleschy positioned his squad in the driveway to attempt to record Mr. Bentz’s performance on standardized field sobriety tests. [R. 40:23.] These facts create a change in circumstances such that this Court should conclude Mr. Bentz was seized at the point Officer Otte requested Mr. Bentz perform standardized field sobriety tests.

The trial court erred in its conclusion that Mr. Bentz was seized at the point Officer Doleschy arrived on scene. The trial court’s conclusion is flawed because it puts too much emphasis on one fact, which is the presence of a second officer on scene. Other than Officer Doleschy being present on scene, (notably arriving

without use of any emergency lights or siren and parking his squad on the street), Officer Doleschy's presence did little to alter the tone, tenor, or content of the contact between Officer Otte and Mr. Bentz. Officer Doleschy, as only a second officer on scene, does not constitute the "several officers" criteria of Mendenhall. See Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 554 (1980). Further, Officer Doleschy's presence was innocuous in that he did not engage in questioning Mr. Bentz or have any physical contact with Mr. Bentz. Officer Doleschy's presence, while a consideration, under the facts and circumstances of the contact between Officer Otte and Mr. Bentz, does not, under the totality of the circumstances, transform the encounter into a seizure.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD CONCLUDE THAT OFFICER OTTE HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO DETAIN MR. BENTZ ONCE MR. BENTZ WAS SEIZED, WHICH OCCURRED WHEN OFFICER OTTE REQUESTED MR. BENTZ PERFORM STANDARDIZED FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS.

"An officer has reasonable suspicion that an individual is impaired if he or she is able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, suggest impairment." Village of Little Chute v. Rosin, 2014 WI App 38, ¶ 18, 353 Wis. 2d 306, 844 N.W.2d 667. Reasonable suspicion is based upon the totality of the circumstances. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 733 N.W.2d 634, 638.

The State asserts that Mr. Bentz was seized when Officer Otte requested Mr. Bentz perform standardized field sobriety tests; therefore, this Court must examine what facts Officer Otte knew at the time he requested Mr. Bentz perform

standardized field sobriety tests to determine whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion.

At the juncture when Officer Otte made said request, he had observed the vehicle being driven in the early morning hours, evasively in his opinion, on city streets, pulling into two different residential driveways within about a twenty-minute timespan, with no one entering the vehicle and no one exiting the vehicle. Officer Otte had not identified any relationship between the vehicle and either residence as he knew the registered owner of the vehicle lived in a different jurisdiction. Officer Otte broke his observation of the vehicle at its second location for about ten minutes, but upon returning to observe the vehicle, noted it to be in the same position, this time with Mr. Bentz outside the vehicle sitting on the ground with his back leaning on the driver's side wheel well. [R. 40:14-16.] Upon making contact with Mr. Bentz, he observed Mr. Bentz emanated an odor of intoxicants, had slurred speech, and had glossy, bloodshot eyes, which Officer Otte recognized to be signs of potential impairment based upon his training and experience. [R. 40:16-17.] A citizen, who resided at the property Mr. Bentz was at, reported she had no relationship with and no contact with Mr. Bentz that night, and stated the vehicle had not been on the property at midnight. [R. 40:19-20.]

Mr. Bentz eventually admitted to driving the vehicle to its last-observed location, which by deduction occurred about twenty minutes prior. [R. 40:13-14, 43-44.] Further, Mr. Bentz admitted to being at Riverfest, which Officer Otte knew to be a festival in the area that served alcoholic beverages, but denied

consuming alcohol. Officer Otte believed Mr. Bentz had consumed alcohol because of Mr. Bentz's physical signs of consumption. [R. 40:21.]

Officer Otte personally observed Mr. Bentz's vehicle being operated on a roadway about twenty minutes prior to his contact with Mr. Bentz, and Mr. Bentz admitted he had driven the vehicle to its location at the Jefferson Street residence. Mr. Bentz exhibited signs Officer Otte recognized as consistent with consuming alcohol and potential impairment. These facts and circumstances and the reasonable inferences therefrom form the requisite reasonable suspicion to permit Officer Otte to detain Mr. Bentz for standardized field sobriety tests.

Mr. Bentz argues that Officer Otte lacked reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Bentz for standardized field sobriety tests because he lacked "particularized" evidence that Mr. Bentz had operated the vehicle. In doing so, Mr. Bentz makes exhaustive arguments about the definition of "particularized" attempting to characterize reasonable suspicion into something it is not. Further, Mr. Bentz also argues Officer Otte lacked reasonable suspicion because Officer Otte failed to investigate one of Mr. Bentz's claims that a female was the operator of the vehicle. These arguments ignore the law and the facts of this case.

Mr. Bentz mischaracterizes the context of the questioning regarding Officer Otte's questioning of Mr. Bentz and Mr. Bentz's responses. Officer Otte testified that he was unable to identify the driver of the vehicle either time he observed the vehicle in motion. [R. 40:34-35.] That is why Officer Otte asked Mr. Bentz questions relative to who was driving. However, Officer Otte's continued

investigation resulted in reasonable suspicion that Mr. Bentz was the driver. Officer Otte was requested by defense counsel to read his report into evidence to establish the line of his questions and responses from Mr. Bentz:

“I questioned Robert about his story. I advised Robert that Riverfest ended at 2200 on 060416. Robert stated that he had been walking around. I questioned Robert that if no one was driving his vehicle – or his car how I observed the vehicle in motion on North Main Street, Harrison Street and Jefferson Street around 0217 hours. Robert then told me someone else was driving his car. Robert stated the other female that was driving his vehicle parked it in the driveway and left. I questioned where the female went. Robert stated the female went home. Robert attempted to give me his phone. I advised Robert that I wanted to get his story straight prior to speaking with the female he was saying drove his car. I inquired where the female lived. Robert would not directly answer my questions and stated that he parked the car in the driveway.”

[R. 40:52.]

The reason Officer Otte did not call the female Mr. Bentz initially claimed was the driver was because Mr. Bentz admitted that Mr. Bentz was the driver. [R. 40:21, 52.] There is no reason to call a female who Mr. Bentz admitted was not involved in any way to conduct an investigation about something Mr. Bentz admitted did not occur. The Court’s inquiry in this regard was clearly for clarification as to Officer Otte’s reasoning for not calling the female, which became obvious when Officer Otte again testified that Mr. Bentz admitted that he had parked the car in the driveway.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD CONCLUDE THAT OFFICER OTTE HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST MR. BENTZ.

“Probable cause to arrest is the quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed or was committing a crime. There must be more than a possibility or suspicion that the defendant committed an offense, but the evidence need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not. Probable cause to arrest depends on the totality of the circumstances.”

State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 69, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 185, 864 N.W.2d 26, 48 (internal citations omitted). “[A] court applies an objective standard, considering the information available to the officer and the officer's training and experience.” State v. Kratochwill, 2013 WI App 41, ¶ 10, 346 Wis. 2d 734, 828 N.W.2d 594 (citing State v. Lange, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 20, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551).

The trial court correctly concluded that the facts known to Officer Otte constituted probable cause, finding that:

“Officer Otte observed Bentz’s vehicle being driven at approximately 2:30 a.m. Bentz eventually admitted to having driving his vehicle and admitted that he had no connection to the residence or driveway he was parked in, after first giving Officer Otte several nonsensical explanations as to why his car was parked in the second driveway. Bentz had driven in an evasive manner so as to avoid being followed. Bentz had an odor of intoxicants, slurred speech, and glassy, bloodshot eyes. Bentz twice refused standardized field sobriety tests.”

[R. 40:113.]

Mr. Bentz argues that Officer Otte lacked probable cause to arrest Mr. Bentz because there was inadequate evidence Mr. Bentz drove or operated the vehicle. In making this argument, Mr. Bentz attempts to characterize his admission to driving the vehicle to its location at 706 Jefferson Street as

something other than what it is. These efforts are in vain, however, because the common-sense, reasonable interpretation of Mr. Bentz's statements is that Mr. Bentz admitted to driving the vehicle. Mr. Bentz's own admission, coupled with Officer Otte's observations of Mr. Bentz, the facts and circumstances, Officer Otte's training, education, and experience, and Mr. Bentz's refusal to perform standardized field sobriety tests¹, support probable cause for arrest.

¹"We hold only that a defendant's refusal to submit to such a test may be used as evidence of probable cause to arrest." State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 363, 525 N.W.2d 102, 107 (Ct. App. 1994).

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, because Mr. Bentz was not seized until Officer Otte requested Mr. Bentz perform standardized field sobriety tests, and because Officer Otte had reasonable suspicion to make such a request, Mr. Bentz was not illegally seized. Further, because Officer Otte had probable cause to arrest Mr. Bentz, his arrest was lawful. For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny Mr. Bentz's appeal in all respects.